STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014-AP354-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 10-CF-5940)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY L. ELVERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From the Final Order Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, The Honorable Dennis P. Moroney, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JEFFREY L. ELVERMAN, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, PRO SE 618 HICKORY ROAD TWIN LAKES, WI 53181 312-636-1080

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE BEYOND
A REAONABLE DOUBT MR. ELVERMAN WAS GUILTY OF
LARCENY THEFT GREATER THAN \$10,000 6
A. Theory of Prosecution Erroneously Expanded 6
OR, alternatively,
B. As Ms. Phinney's Agent, Mr. Elverman Had Consent
to Act and, Given Ms. Phinney's Words and Conduct, Did Not
Know He Did Not Have Such Consent
The jury found Mr. Elverman guilty of larceny and the trial court entered judgment on this finding.
II. LARCENY THEFT UNDER WIS. STAT. §943.20(1)(a) IS
NOT A "CONTINUING OFFENSE," THUS, THE STATE IS
PRECLUDED FROM EXTENDING THE SIX-YEAR
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR FELONY OFFENSES SET
FORTH IN WIS. STAT. §939.74(1)
The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's pre-trial and post-conviction motions on this issue.
III. MILWAUKEE COUNTY DID NOT HAVE PROPER VENUE UNDER WIS. STAT.§971.19(2)
The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's pre-trial motion on
this issue.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY REFUSING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REQUEST FOR A SPECIFIC UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION
The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's request for a specific unanimity instruction.
V. THE STATE FAILED TO TIMELY COMMENCE ITS PROSECUTION AGAINST MR. ELVERMAN, ACCORDINGLY, A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL SHOULD BE ISSUED
The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's pre-trial and post-conviction motions on this issue.
VI. THE CHARGING DOCUMENTS ARE CONSTITUTIONALLY FATAL UNDER THE US AND WISCONSIN CONSTITUTUIONS FOR FAILING TO ADEQUATELY APPRISE MR. ELVERMAN OF THE NATURE AND CAUSE OF THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM 33
The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's post-conviction motion on this issue.
VII. COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE THEREBY VIOLATING MR. ELVERMAN'S SIXTH AMEMDNMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL

The trial court denied Mr. Elverman's post-conviction motion on this issue.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a). Mr. Elverman does not seek publication under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014-AP354-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 10-CF-5940)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY L. ELVERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Elverman with a single count of larceny theft in violation of Wis. Stat. §943.20(1)(a) for acts alleged to have occurred between March 25, 2003 and September 23, 2004.

On March 13, 2012, the jury found Mr. Elverman guilty of theft of more than \$10,000. The court imposed 5 years probation, with an imposed and stayed sentence of 5 years initial confinement followed by 5 years of extended supervision. The court ordered him to pay \$325,000 in restitution, \$75,000 of which was paid on the date of sentencing.

After eight extensions totaling over one year of time to file, defense counsel filed a post-conviction motion on November 6,

2013. On February 3, 2014, the court denied defense counsel's motion. A notice of appeal was filed on February 11, 2014.

On June 5, 2014, Mr. Elverman obtained permission to proceed pro se. Following Court of Appeals approval, Mr. Elverman filed a supplemental post-conviction motion that was denied on August 26, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Elverman was charged with a single count of larceny theft in violation of Wis. Stat. §943.20(1)(a). (Complaint, 12/6/10). The State alleged that he "did intentionally transfer moveable property" that belonged to Dorothy Phinney by receiving a total of fifty-six separate checks signed by Dorothy Phinney to him, in an amount totaling \$374,800. (*Id.*).

In 2001, Mr. Elverman was appointed as Ms. Phinney's agent pursuant to a bona fide durable power of attorney for finances (Complaint;Exh.26)(hereinafter "POA"). It granted Mr. Elverman "full power and authority to act for me [Ms. Phinney] as fully as though I myself were acting." (Exh.26).

The State's witness, Daniel Langenwalter, testified the POA was in effect during the time of the alleged transfers. (Tr.12/13/11,AM at 13-14,21). On January 25, 2011, the State filed an information charging that Mr. Elverman "between March 25, 2003 and September 23, 2004" did transfer Ms. Phinney's property in an amount of over \$10,000. (Information, 1/25/11).

Defense counsel argued if these actions were charged as separate counts, only *two* of the fifty-six checks would have fallen within the six year statute of limitations. (See Mtn. to Dismiss, 2/28/11; see also State's Ex.1 (showing only two checks

transferred after September 8, 2004)); Wis. Stat. §939.74.1

Following the preliminary hearing, Mr. Elverman's attorney, Daniel Drigot, filed a motion to dismiss (Mtn. to Dismiss, 2/28/11) arguing that the evidence at the preliminary hearing was insufficient to establish that Ms. Phinney did not consent to the checks she signed to him in light of their "ongoing business relationship." (*Id.* at 3-4).

Defense counsel also argued that larceny theft under Wis. Stat. §943.20(1)(a) does not constitute a "continuing offense" to allow the State to charge a single count to extend the statute of limitations on counts that would fall outside the statute of limitations if charged individually. (*Id.* at 5).

At the hearing, the Honorable Thomas P. Donegan presiding, rejected defense counsel's motion. This Court found that §971.36 allowed the single charge. (*Id.* at 10-11;Decision and Order, 4/27/11).

Before trial, defense counsel submitted proposed jury instructions, including Instruction 517: Jury Agreement: Evidence of More than One Act Introduced to Prove One Charge. (Defendant's Proposed Jury Instructions, 11/28/11). Defense counsel also filed a motion requesting the use of a Special Verdict Form, on grounds that Mr. Elverman had a Sixth Amendment Right to a unanimous verdict, and a Fifth Amendment due process right to specificity in the charges brought against him. (Defendant's Proposed Special Verdict Form, 11/28/11). The Form asked the jury to list which acts the jury unanimously agreed upon (by Date, Amount, and Venue). (Id).

¹ Mr. Elverman executed an agreement on September 8, 2010 with the State, tolling the statute of limitations as of that date for 120 days but reserving his right to assert a defense under the statute of limitations for events that had already occurred at that point. (*Id.* at 1-8).

This Court rejected the special verdict request, because "theft is a continuing offense." (Tr.12/12/11,AM at 4). Following the State's evidence, defense counsel again moved to dismiss. (Tr.12/14/11,AM at 32). Counsel argued that because testimony had established that Mr. Elverman was Ms. Phinney's power of attorney during this period of time, there was no way that he could have "accepted property from Ms. Phinney without her consent." (Id.).

Prior to instructions, defense counsel objected to the inclusion of instruction 255A. (Tr.12/14/11, PM at 9-10). Defense counsel again requested the inclusion of Instruction 517. (*Id.* at 8-9). The court rejected the challenge to 255A. (*Id.* at 9-13).

The State presented evidence that Ms. Phinney signed checks to Mr. Elverman between March of 2003 and September 2004 in an amount totaling \$374,800. (Tr.12/13/11,AM at 17-21).

Marion Whelpley, an assistant who Mr. Elverman hired to work with Ms. Phinney, testified that she saw him discuss Ms. Phinney's finances with her. (Tr.12/13/11,AM at 38-39;81-82). Ms. Whelpley testified that on numerous occasions Mr. Elverman expressed concerns to Ms. Phinney regarding the costs of Mr. Elverman's services and Ms. Phinney indicated that "she didn't care what it cost, that she wanted Jeff [Mr. Elverman] and I to be in her life." (Id. at 45). See also State's Ex 14 in Appendix, pages 2,3 and 6.

The jury found Mr. Elverman guilty of theft in an amount of more than \$10,000.

ARGUMENT

This case contains numerous Wisconsin and Federal statutory and constitutional errors. There are so many issues of a constitutional dimension, it is worthy of a law school exam in both criminal procedure and constitutional law. As demonstrated below, the State and trial judges failed to properly address these issues.

Quite simply, the State and trial court have failed to properly apply the "continuing offense" doctrine established in *Toussie*, infra, and its progeny, including Yashar, infra. In fact, the State in the past has argued and acknowledged theft under 943.20 is <u>NOT</u> a continuing offense. See Guzniczak, infra. <u>Incredibly</u>, neither the State nor the trial court has cited <u>one</u> case that applies the continuing offense theory to larceny theft. Supreme courts in other states have consistently refused to extend the doctrine to larceny theft.

If applied properly, the doctrine would at most find two of the fifty-six separate alleged events occurred within the six year felony statute of limitations. However, as established in *Jennings*, *infra*, even these last two acts were outside the limitation period. Additionally, these last two acts occurred entirely outside of Milwaukee County, thus based upon *Swinson*, *infra*, venue does not exist in Milwaukee County.

Separately, the State failed to seek an "aggregation theft theory" in the charging documents, yet it was allowed to aggregate the thefts. None of the alleged thefts exceeded \$10,000, yet Mr. Elverman was convicted of one count of theft in excess of \$10,000.

The power of attorney by operation of law granted Mr. Elverman the authority to consent to the transfers, and Ms. Phinney's words and conduct for seven years precluded him from knowing he did not have consent.

Moreover, the charging documents did not provide constitutional notice of the nature of the charges to allow Mr. Elverman to properly defend himself.

Any of the above errors is sufficient for this court to reverse the conviction, dismiss the Information and issue a judgment of acquittal. Thus, the order of the various arguments is not determinative as to their relative importance.

I. The Evidence Is Insufficient to Prove Beyond a Reasonable Doubt Mr. Elverman was Guilty of Larceny Theft Greater than \$10,000.

A. Theory of Prosecution Erroneously Expanded.

Mr. Elverman was charged with a single count of larceny theft greater than \$10,000, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a). The charging documents alleged various acts by Mr. Elverman, any one of which could have met the elements of the offense charged. The State failed to allege the separate acts were unified by a "single intent and design."

Importantly, not one alleged act was dependent or otherwise contingent upon the successful completion of a previous act, such as in a check kiting scheme. Moreover, the alleged separate acts were not automatically occurring or recurring, such as in a "failure to report" welfare fraud case. The Information and Complaint are in the Appendix(hereinafter the "Charging Documents").

Critically, the State failed to prove a single alleged act of theft by Mr. Elverman had a value in excess of \$10,000.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the evidence may have been sufficient to show Mr. Elverman stole various items of property, the aggregate

value of which exceeded \$10,000, that was <u>not</u> the offense charged by the State. <u>The Charging Documents facially charged a</u> complete offense, namely, a single act of larceny theft.

Our Supreme Court has held "[t]he due process clause of the fourteenth amendment to the federal Constitution protects the accused in a criminal trial against conviction...'except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." State v. Zelenka, 387 N.W. 2d 55 (WI 1986) quoting the U.S. Supreme Court in In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970)(emphasis added).

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, our Supreme Court has held "[a]n appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 501, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990).

Based upon our Supreme Court's recent decision in State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, the sufficiency of the evidence is weighed against the correct statutory requirements for the crime <u>charged</u>. Id. ¶24. The cornerstone of this approach necessarily looks to the <u>charging documents</u>. Critically, there is no allegation in the Charging Documents that the alleged acts were pursuant to a single intent and design, a mens rea element.

The Appendix contains numerous Wisconsin complaints in other theft cases which demonstrate the State's adoption of a theory of prosecution under an aggregation theory, namely, Wis. Stat. § 971.36. The State in Mr. Elverman's case <u>chose not to adopt such</u> a theory in the Charging Documents.

Remarkably, even though the Charging Documents were void

of any allegation that such acts were unified by a single intent and design, the jury was instructed that they could aggregate the various acts of theft. The Jury Instructions are in the Appendix. This instruction impermissibly <u>broadened</u> the State's theory of prosecution.

It is Mr. Elverman's constitutional right to be charged <u>only</u> on those allegations contained in the Charging Documents.

Stirone v. United States, 361 U..S. 212, 215-218, 80 S. Ct. 270, 272-273 (1960). <u>Nothing</u> in the Charging Documents alleges Mr. Elverman acted pursuant to a single intent and design. <u>Even the</u>

State at trial argued Mr. Elverman possessed more than a single intent. See, eg., the State's presentation of Mr. Elverman's receipt of a payment in April of 2004, that the State argued arose directly out of a new and independent impulse to pay his credit card bill following a Florida family vacation (Tr. Jury Trial, PM Session, Dec. 14, 2011, page 44-45—most notably lines 1-5 of page 45).

In *U.S. v. Leichtnam*, 948 F.2d 370, 377 (7th Cir. 1991), the Seventh Circuit indicated that "any broadening [of] the possible bases for conviction from that which appeared in the indictment is fatal. It is reversible per se." (citing *U.S. v. Miller*, 471 U.S. 130, 138, 105 S.Ct. 1811, 1816, 85 L.Ed.2d 99(1985).

While there are no reported Wisconsin cases addressing the constitutional impact of failing to unify the separate acts as required by 971.36, the decisions of the supreme courts in Illinois and Texas are on point.

The decision of the Illinois Supreme Court in *People v. Rowell*, 229 Ill 2d 82, 890 N.E. 2d 487, 495-496 (2008) is particularly instructive. It is the **ONLY** reported case that addresses the constitutional impact of failing to allege the mens rea element of "single intent and design." Shockingly, the trial court failed to consider this case.

In Rowell, the Illinois Supreme Court was asked to interpret its aggregation statute, 725 ILCS 5/111-4, which is virtually identical to Wis. Stat. § 971.36. The Illinois and Wisconsin aggregation statutes are in the Appendix. Rowell found that the State failed to allege that the defendant's separate acts were in furtherance of a "single intent and design." Accordingly, the State was precluded from aggregating the several alleged acts of theft.

Rowell found that although the State properly cited the applicable theft statute in its charging documents, it failed to cite the aggregation statute or the key words "single intent and design."

Rowell held that because "single intent and design" addressed the defendant's mental state, it was an essential element of the offense. Without explanation, the trial court failed to address this issue.

Similarly, the Texas Court of Appeals in *Woods v. State, No.* 13-07-00675-CR (2011), refused to allow the State to aggregate the various alleged acts of theft. In *Woods*, the defendant was charged and convicted of a <u>single count</u> of theft of property over \$100,000, but less than \$200,000. The defendant was accused of receiving nine separate checks totaling \$105,840 between January 2005 and December 2005.

Woods refused to allow the State to aggregate the thefts because the indictment, like the Charging Documents, <u>failed to connect</u> the individual acts of the defendant. Importantly, none of the separate checks was over \$100,000. Woods followed the approach adopted by the Texas Court of Appeals in numerous "aggregate theft" cases holding that <u>where the indictment facially charges a complete offense under the simple theft statute, the prosecution cannot later attempt to aggregate those thefts.</u>
Thomason v. State, 892 S.W. 2d 8, 11 (Tex Cr. App. 1994).
Whitehead v. State, 745 S.W.2d 374 (Tex. Cr. App. 1988) and

Turner v. State, 636 S.W.2d 189 (Tex. Cr. App. 1980).

This court, in reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, must compare the evidence to the Charging Documents, ignoring the jury instructions expanding the theory set forth therein. There is <u>not</u> <u>one</u> reported case allowing expansion of the theory of prosecution beyond that set forth in the charging instruments.

The claimed error was objected to by Mr. Elverman's trial counsel through his request for a special verdict requiring the jury to unanimously agree on which specific act or acts constituted theft. Through this request, defense counsel was requiring the State to prove which alleged act or acts of Mr. Elverman violated 943.20(1)(a) and exceeded \$10,000. The trial court denied such request.

Our Supreme Court in State. v. Duda, 60 Wis.2d 431, 210 N.W. 763 (1973) quotes from Am. Jur. 2 wherein it states that "[i]t is well settled that a verdict will not cure a failure to allege a criminal offense or the omission of any essential allegation: any such objection is fatal after as well as before the verdict.(emphasis added). Id., 60 Wis.2d at 442, quoting 41 Am. Jur. 2d, Indictments and Information, p. 1072, sec. 310. Quite simply, the Charging Documents omit an essential allegation. The conviction cannot be sustained.

The Charging Documents <u>facially allege a complete offense</u>, namely, a single act of theft. The State's theory of prosecution does not adopt the aggregation theory. Allowing aggregation violates Mr. Elverman's constitutional right to be convicted only on the theory of prosecution set forth in the Charging Documents. *Stirone*, Winship, Zelenka, Beamon, as well as numerous decisions of other state supreme courts, demand such a finding. The evidence <u>failed</u> to prove a single act of theft in excess of \$10,000. Mr. Elverman's conviction of theft greater than \$10,000 cannot be sustained.

B. As Ms. Phinney's Agent, Mr. Elverman had Consent to Act and, Given Ms. Phinney's Words and Conduct, Did Not Know He Did Not Have Such Consent.

Separate from the analysis in **Section A**. above, the evidence is insufficient to support Mr. Elverman's conviction given he had consent----based upon the words and conduct of Ms. Phinney and given that he was acting as her agent pursuant to a bona fide power of attorney ("POA"), attached as part of the Appendix. Thus, it is factually impossible for Mr. Elverman to have known he did not have such consent.

The POA was "durable," meaning it continued in effect even if Ms. Phinney became incompetent in March 2003, as alleged by the State. The POA was broad in scope. It granted Mr. Elverman "full power and authority to act...in all matters as fully as though I myself were acting." There is no prohibition in the POA on transferring funds to Mr. Elverman. In fact, Ms. Phinney through her words and conduct over several years, specifically <u>authorized</u> such transfers.

The uncontroverted evidence at trial established that Ms. Phinney for several years prior to her alleged incompetency in March, 2003, made payments to Mr. Elverman in the same manner and similar amounts to those alleged to have constituted theft post-March of 2003. Additionally, evidence was presented that Ms. Phinney repeatedly acknowledged through her words the desire to make such payments. See State's Ex. 14, pgs. 2, 3 and 6 attached in the Appendix. It is hornbook law that such conduct and words amount to a grant of authority to Mr. Elverman to act in the manner he did. Specifically, Professor William A. Gregory, in his treatment

of agency law in the Law of Agency and Partnership, Third Ed., states:

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