RECEIVED

02-04-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF A PPEALOF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2014AP354-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY L. ELVERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE THOMAS P. DONEGAN, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN AND THE HONORABLE DENNIS P. MORONEY, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

> BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

⁸The State presented evidence that Elverman deposited twenty-three of the checks in an M&I branch located in the city of Milwaukee (82:71-72). The jury was given a venue instruction directing it to find Elverman not guilty if it was not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that one of the acts required for the commission of the offense was committed in Milwaukee County (84:27).
county. *Id.*, ¶21; *see also State v. Lippold*, 2008 WI App 130, ¶16, 313 Wis. 2d 699, 757 N.W.2d 825.

One of the elements that the State had to that Elverman "intentionally prove was transferred the moveable property of another" (84:26). One of the State's witnesses, an employee of M&I Bank, where Elverman maintained his account, testified that when an M&I customer deposited a check at any of its branches, those checks were sent to M&I's processing center in Brown Deer (82:67-69). The processing center then presents the check to the bank that the check is drawn on, and the latter bank then transfers the payer's funds to M&I (82:69). D.P.'s checks were written on her account at Bank One Milwaukee (84:70).

The evidence thus established that part of the process of transferring D.P.'s money occurred in Milwaukee in Brown Deer County.⁹ Accordingly, even if this prosecution were limited to the last two checks, venue would be proper in Milwaukee County. See Swinson, 261 Wis. 2d 633, \P 21-23 (where victim company was located in Sheboygan County, venue in prosecution for theft by fraud was proper there even though State presented no evidence that defendant prepared the fraudulent invoices in Sheboygan County because other elements resulting from defendant's acts occurred in that county).

 $^{^{9}}$ The court may take judicial notice that Brown Deer is in Milwaukee County. *See* State of Wisconsin Blue Book 739 (2013-14 ed.).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DECLINED THE DEFENSE REQUEST FOR A UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION.

Elverman next argues that the trial court erred when it denied his request for an instruction that would have required the jury to unanimously agree upon the checks upon which it based its finding of guilt (22:1-4; 79:4; R-Ap. 109). The court properly denied that request because Elverman was charged with a single offense based on a course of conduct.

> A. The jury did not have to agree on the specific thefts because they were part of a continuing offense.

The Wisconsin Constitution's guarantee of the right to trial by jury includes the right to a unanimous verdict with respect to the ultimate issue of guilt. *State v. Johnson*, 2001 WI 52, ¶11, 243 Wis. 2d 365, 627 N.W.2d 455.

> To say that the jury must be unanimous, however, does not explain what the jury must be unanimous about. For this we look to the statutory language defining the crime and its elements. "The principal justification for the unanimity requirement is that it ensures that each juror is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the prosecution has proved each essential element of the offense." Thus, while jury unanimity is required on the essential elements of the offense, when the statute in question establishes different modes or means by which the offense may be committed, unanimity is generally not

required on the alternate modes or means of commission.

Id. (citations omitted); see also State v. Lomagro, 113 Wis. 2d 582, 592, 335 N.W.2d 583 (1983) ("If there is only one crime, jury unanimity on the particular alternative means of committing the crime is required only if the acts are conceptually distinct. Unanimity is not required if the acts are conceptually similar.").

Two Wisconsin cases address the need for unanimity as to each discrete act of unlawful conduct when, as in this case, a statute authorizes the State to charge as a single crime multiple acts that are a continuing course of conduct. Those cases discussed Wis. Stat. § 948.025, the statute criminalizing repeated acts of sexual assault with the same child.

In State v. Molitor, 210 Wis. 2d 415, 565 N.W.2d 248 (Ct. App. 1997), the court of appeals rejected the defendant's argument that the statute violated the right to a unanimous verdict because the statute provided that the jury need not agree on which specific acts constituted the requisite number of sexual assaults. The court of appeals "agree[d] that the right to a unanimous verdict includes the requirement that the 'jury must agree unanimously that the prosecution has proved each essential element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt before a valid verdict of guilty can be returned." Id. at 420 (quoting Holland v. State, 91 Wis. 2d 134, 138, 280 N.W.2d 288 (1979)). The court "[did] not agree, however, that this requirement may not be fulfilled where, as here, unanimity is required as to the existence of a continuing course of conduct rather than as to each discrete act of which it is comprised." Id.

The court noted that "[t]he language of § 948.025. Stats., plainly shows that the legislature intended to create a single crime, the repeated sexual assault of the same child within a specified time period." Id. at 421. The question, the court said, "is whether the legislature may, like prosecutors, aggregate conceptually similar acts in a single 'course of conduct' crime, albeit for acts committed over an indefinite, and presumably longer, period of time." *Id*. The court held that jury unanimity is not required as to any particular act when the statute contemplates a continuous course of conduct over a period of time, even a substantial period of time, because "[t]he actus reus of such a crime is a series of acts occurring over a substantial period of time, generally on the same victim and generally resulting in cumulative injury." Id. at 422 (quoted source omitted).

In Johnson, our supreme court addressed validity *Molitor*'s continuing in light of a United States Supreme subsequent Court decision, Richardson v. United States, 526 U.S. 813 (1999), which had analyzed a jury unanimity claim under a due process analysis. See Johnson, 243 Wis. 2d 365, ¶¶2-3, 13. The supreme court concluded that *Molitor's* analysis survives *Richardson, see id.* at \P 3, 14, and also held that the statute also is constitutional on due process grounds, see id. at $\P\P17-27$. Because Elverman does not raise any due process argument on jury unanimity, see Elverman's brief at 27-30, the State will not discuss the *Johnson* court's due process analysis.

For the reasons the State has discussed above in connection with Elverman's statute of limitations argument, the single theft charge in this case was a continuing offense involving a series of acts against one victim over a period of time. See supra, pp. 18-22. Under Molitor's rationale, the jury need not have agreed on the specific instances of theft as long as it agreed upon the ultimate question of whether Elverman stole at least \$10,000 from D.P. Consistent with that proposition, the jury was instructed that "[i]n determining the value of the property stolen, you may consider all thefts that you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt were from the same owner and committed by the defendant pursuant to a single intent and design" (84:27-28). No additional instruction on unanimity was required.

B. Any error in instructing the jury was harmless.

Even if the trial court erred when it declined to give the requested unanimity instruction, reversal is not appropriate because any error was harmless. Errors in jury instruction are subject to a harmless error analysis. See State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶35-49, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189 (jury instruction that omitted an element of the offense was harmless error); Jackson v. State, 92 Wis. 2d 1, 11-12, 284 N.W.2d 685, 690 (Ct. App. 1979) (instruction that violated the defendant's right to a unanimous verdict was harmless error). An error in a jury instruction is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. Harvey, 254 Wis. 2d 442, ¶46. Elverman posits a variety of reasons that the jury might not have been unanimous. He asks: Which checks did the jurors find to have been taken with D.P.'s consent where he knew she did not consent? Did the jurors find certain checks were negotiated pursuant to the power of attorney while others were not? Did the jurors only agree on those checks outside the statute of limitations? Did the jurors unanimously agree on any checks? *See* Elverman's brief at 29.

Elverman's argument ignores the State's theory of prosecution and the manner in which both parties framed their arguments. Neither party's opening argument focused on individual checks. The State's theory addressed all of the checks written to Elverman, with the prosecutor telling the jury that the evidence would show that after D.P. could not consent to any of the payments after her doctor signed the certificate of incapacity and that Elverman had not performed work to justify the large payments he received (80:85-98). Defense counsel's opening statement likewise did not address any specific check (80:98-105).

The State's closing argument also addressed the theft globally. The prosecutor began by asking the jury, "Who in their right mind would give somebody \$374,000 for next to nothing" (84:33). The answer, he argued, was that no one in their right mind would do so, so Elverman had to steal it (*id*.). The prosecutor framed the State's argument in terms of the entire course of conduct: "From March of 2003 to September of 2004, the defendant stole over \$300,000 from [D.P.] by having her sign checks to him when he did little or no work to justify those payments at a time that she was suffering from Alzheimer's dementia and not capable of understanding what she was doing, and at a time when he knew that because he, in fact, requested the certificate of incapacity that you have seen in this case that establishes that she was not capable of handling her affairs" (84:34).

As discussed above, *see supra* pp. 11-12, the prosecutor did highlight the checks that Elverman received in April, 2004, in his closing argument. He did so, however, not to suggest that the jury could find Elverman guilty based on those checks alone but to illustrate why the jury should not believe Elverman's claim that the checks he received represented payment for work Elverman performed (84:44-45).

In his closing argument, the defense counsel highlighted the fact that the State's case had not focused on any particular check. Counsel argued:

> I just ask you to consider that the State of Wisconsin has not pointed to a single day and said, okay, here's a check on this day, we know that she was having a bad day, we know that she was hallucinating or couldn't remember some important fact, or in some other way we knew that there may be even a question about what she understood, and then later that check was deposited in Milwaukee. They tell you generally that all of this must be theft.

(84:68.)

This is not a case in which a juror reasonably could have doubted whether the State proved the necessary elements of theft with regard to some checks but not others. Accordingly, any error in refusing the requested unanimity instruction was harmless. *See State v. Tulley*, 2001 WI App 236, ¶17, 248 Wis. 2d 505, 635 N.W.2d 807 (defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to object on unanimity grounds to jury instructions or verdict form where there was no basis for finding some of the sexual assaults occurred but others had not).

> V. ELVERMAN'S LAWYER WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ARGUE THAT THE COMPLAINT FAILED TO GIVE ADEQUATE NOTICE OF THE CHARGE.

Elverman's final challenge to his conviction is his claim that the charging documents failed to give him adequate notice that he needed to defend against an allegation under Wis. Stat. § 971.36 that he acted in furtherance of a single intent and design as permitted. *See* Elverman's brief at 33-34. Elverman does not assert that he timely raised this objection, however, and the first appearance in the record of such a claim appears to be in Elverman's pro se supplemental postconviction motion (96:9-18).

"It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court." *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. "Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." *Id.* "The party who raises an issue on appeal bears the burden of showing that the issue was raised before the circuit court." *Id.* Because Elverman did not timely object to the alleged failure of the charging documents to provide adequate notice, his claim should be analyzed in an ineffective assistance of counsel framework. See State v. Carprue, 2004 WI 111, ¶47, 274 Wis. 2d 656, 683 N.W.2d 31 ("The absence of any objection warrants that we follow 'the normal procedure in criminal cases,' which 'is to address waiver within the rubric of the ineffective assistance of counsel.") (quoted source omitted). However, Elverman's brief, like his postconviction motion (96:18-20), makes only a perfunctory, catch-all allegation that his counsel was ineffective. See Elverman's brief at 36-37.

To be entitled to a hearing on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a postconviction motion "must have provided sufficient material facts – *e.g.*, who, what, where, when, why, and how – that, if true, would entitle him to the relief he seeks." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶2, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. If the allegations are conclusory in nature, the court may deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing. *See State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

Elverman's postconviction motion does not meet that standard. His allegation of prejudice states merely that "[t]o the extent counsel failed to fully develop his argument for such positions, counsel's failure prejudiced Mr. Elverman. Had counsel properly raised, preserved and/or properly developed the arguments set forth herein, there is a reasonable probability the court would have discharged this case" (96:19). Because the allegations in Elverman's postconviction motion were conclusory, the court should summarily reject Elverman's claim that his trial lawyer was ineffective.

If the court were to reach the merits of Elverman's claim, it should reject it. A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must prove both that his lawyer's representation was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result of that deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). If the court concludes that the defendant has not proven one prong of this test, it need not address the other. *Id.* at 697.

Elverman's ineffective assistance claim fails because he has not demonstrate that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to move to dismiss the complaint for lack of adequate notice. That is so because the record demonstrates that Elverman had actual notice long before trial that the State intended to rely on Wis. Stat. § 971.36 to argue that Elverman stole more than \$10,000 in the aggregate from D.P.

On January 25, 2011, at the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, Elverman orally moved to dismiss the complaint on the grounds that all but the last two checks fell outside the statute of limitations and because of improper venue (73:14-18). Addressing the prosecutor. the court commissioner asked if he was "going to address \dots the conglomerate theory plus venue" (73:18). The prosecutor responded that this was a continuing offense under John and that the statute of limitations had not begun to run until the last act (73:19-20).

On February 28, 2011, Elverman filed a motion challenging the sufficiency of the evidence adduced at the preliminary hearing (10:1-10). One of his arguments was that the continuing offense doctrine recognized in *John* does not apply to a charge of theft under Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a) and that only the final two transactions, neither of which exceeded \$10,000, were not barred by the statute of limitations (10:5-8).

In its response brief, filed on March 14, 2011 (11:1), nine months before the start of trial on December 12, 2011 (80:1), the State argued that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 establishes that Elverman's theft was a continuing offense because all of the funds were taken from the same owner as part of the same scheme (11:5).

At the hearing on Elverman's motion, held on April 14, 2011, eight months before trial, defense counsel argued that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 did not apply here, while the State argued that it did (75:3-8). In its oral ruling denying Elverman's motion, the court said that it agreed that Wis. Stat. § 971.36 applied to this case and allowed the State to charge the theft as a continuing offense (75:10; R-Ap. 104).

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